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DEPUTY JUDGE ADVOCATE'S OFFICE 
7708 ~iAR CRIMES GROUP 

EUROPEAN COMMAND 
i.PO 407 

U N I T E D S T A T E S 

LFB/dec 

23 December 1947 

v. Case No. 000-50-5-14 

Eduard DLOUHY, et al. 

I. IB!~~-~Aiil• The accused were tried at Dachau, Germany, 

during the period 16-23 July 1947, before a General Military 

Government Court • 

.Qliii!Hil• Viola ti on of the Laws and Usages of Vj ar. 

Particulars& In that Eduard DLOUHY, Wilhe.lm 
DULOVITS, Rudolf FLEISCHHACKER, Wilhelm GLISSMANN, 
Fritz MIROFF, Paul RICKEN, Karl STUMFOL, Ladis­
laus TURZER, German nationals or persons acting 
with German nationals, acting in pursuance of a 
common design to subject the persons hereinafter 
de scribed to killings , beatings, tortures, star­
vation, abuses, and indignitie s , did, at or in 
the vicinity of the Mauthausen Concentration Camp, 
at C~ stle Hartheim, and at or in the vicinity of 
the Mauthaue en Sub-camps, including but not lim­
ited to Ebensee , Gros -Roming, Gunskirchen, Gusen, 
Hinterbruehl, La mboch, Linz, Loiblpaas , Melk, 
Sohwechot, St. Goergen, St. LBmbr echt, St. 
Valentin, Steyr, Vienna, Wienor-Neudorr, a ll in 
Austria, at various and sundry times be tw een J an­
uary 1, 1942, and May 5, 1945, wrongfully encour­
age , a id, abet, and par ticipate in the subj ection 
of Poles , Fronchmen , Greeks, Jugoslavs, Citizens 
of tho Soviet Union, Norweg i~ns, Dane s, a olgions , 
Citizens of tho Nethorlonda, Citizens of tho Grnnd 
Ducby of Luxembourg, Turks, British Subj octs, 
statel oss persons, Czechs, Chinese , C1tii~n s of 
the United Ststos of Amorico, and othor non­
German nationa l s who wor e then and there in the 
custody of tho then Ger mon Reich, and mombers of 
the armed forc es of n~ tions then a t ~ar with the 
then Gorman Reich who wero thon and ther e surren­
der ed and unarmed prisoners of war in t he custody 
of tho then Ger man Roich, to killings, bea tings, 
tortures, st ~rvation, abuses and indignities, the 
exact names and numbers of suoh porsons be ing un­
known , but aggregating thousands. 

III. §.YMMARI_QLilll2~li.Q~& /L ll t he aonv i c t ed occusud we r e shown 

to have bee n member s of th u SS at M~ uthaus an Concentra tion Camp 

and/or its s ubcamps for various p eriods of time ~!thin the dates 



.. -. .. 

alleged and to have actively participated in various ways in the 

Mauthausen Concentration Camp mass atrocity. All of the convic­

ted a ccused mistreated inmates by beating and abusing them by 

various methods. Accused MIROFF personally killed several in­

matos. Accused RICKEN participated in executions and was in 

oharge of an inmate evacuation march on which many weak and siok 

inma tes were shot to death. Accused MIROFF and RICKEN also per-

sonal ly beat and brutally mistreated many inmates. 

Prosecution's Exhibit P-Ex 6 (R 14) is a certified copy of the 

charge, particulars, findings and sentences in the parent Mauthau­

sen Concentration Camp case (United States v. Altfu ldisch, et al., 

000-50-5, opinion DJAWC, February 1947, hereinaft er referred to 

as the "Parent Case"; see Section V, post). 

Not much weight was given to the t e stimony of witness Josef 

Hildner. 

Unless otherwise ind icated , on item r eferr ed to herein os 

a "Statement" is in the form of extrajudicial sworn testimony. 

IV. ~~l~iNQ~-AB~-BEQQM~EN~AIION§s 

1. i9Y~t~~~QYHI 

Nationalitya Austrian 

Ages 38 

Civilian Statues Unkno~n 

Pa rty Statues Unknown 

Military Statue: 6affen SS Sergeant 

Plea: NG 

Findings: G 

Sentences 3 years, com rr. enoing 
8 May 1945 

pretria l sta tement tha t he was a member of th~ Waffen SS from 7 

Sept ember 1939 until 8 Moy 1945, havin g be en promoted to the rank 

of sergeant in April 19~4. He stated tha t he was a guard at Mau­

thausen Concentr ation Camp from 27 Janua ry 1942 to 14 March 1942; 
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at eubcamp Brettetein from 15 March 1942 to 10 Nove mber 1942; a t 

Ma u t ba us e n Concentration Camp fr om 11 Nove mber 1942 to 12 Ja nu~ ry 

1943; at subcamp Linz from 12 J a nua ry 1943 to 20 May 1943; a nd at 

eubcomp Loiblpass from 20 Moy 1943 to 10 February 1944 . He fur­

th er stated therein that from 18 Februa ry 1944 to 18 August 1944 

he was a supervisor at headquart ers, Mc uthausen Concentra tion Ca mp, 

a nd from 20 August 1944 to 8 Apr il 1945 ho wae a supe rvisor and 

guard at subcc mp Poggau (R 14; P-Ex ?A). 

In September 1944 the accused, as a n SS s orgoant, roll cal l 

leader a nd assistant to the camp l eador of auboamp Pogga u, assist­

ed in bea ting ten Russia n inmates while t he victims wer & ha nging 

by the ir ha nds ~hich we r e tied behind the ir backs. On 12 Novom­

b cr 1944 h e assisted in beating one Yugo alav inmn t c with a bull's 

•pimzlo". The accused slapped a nd beat inma t e s of all na tionoli­

tio s with a rubbe r hos o and on oxtail nhip (R 32, 38, 15; P-Ex 

SA). 

~y,!g~n .. ~~-t2r-~~!.QD~.2: The accus ed did not testify nor wo e 

any testimony introducod in his behalf. 

2Y!li£1~n~~-~f-Exis~n~~: Aus tria wa s a co-belligor ont of 

Ge rmany. 

Th o findings of guilty a r e warrant ed by tho ovid enc ~ . The 

s ent ence is not exce ssive. 

f2!JlJ~D~' No P e titions for Rovi ow nor P etitions for Gl em ­

onoy wore fil ed. 

B~~~mm§Dg~~l~Dl Tha t the finding o a nd sente nce b e approv ed. 

2. ~ilb~lm-~Y~QY1I§ 

Th ia accused was s orve d but no t tried (R 1). 

3. BY~~ll_f~~l§QHHAQ~~B 

This accused was s orve d but not tri ed (R 1) . 

4. !ilb~lm_Q~I~§M~~~ 

Na tiona lity a 

Ago a 

3 

Gormnn 
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Civ i lian Stotusa Unkno\'m 

P3rty Statusa Momber Na zi Porty 1932-1939 

Military Statusa Waffe n SS Scrgecnt 

Plea: NG 

Findings: G 

Sentences 3 ye ars , commencing 
5 May 1945 

~yjg~n~~-lQr_f~~~~~Y~i~a• In his Statomont, the ac cusod 

sta ted that ho b ecome a membe r of tho Waffon SS on 7 Nov ember 

1939; th~ t he attained the rank of s orgoant; tha t ho wa s s gua rd 

at suboamp Gusen from February 1940 to May 1942; tha t from May 

to Septomb er 1942 he ~as a RSignod at aubcamp Voooklabruck to a 

road construction detail; and the t from Soptombor 1942 to Morch 

1943 he was assigned to subca mp Tornberg for duty at a res ervoir. 

Th e accused was Sergeant of the Guard at subcamp Wiener-Neudorf 

from Ma rch to October 1943· He was stationed at suboa np Aflens 

from October 1943 to 14 February 1945 a nd at subcamp Pe ggau from 

15 February 1945 to 3 April 1945 . In tho last two suboampe ho 

was assigned to a tunn el construction d etail. The a ccused a lso 

stated th erein tha t he participated in an inmate transport from 

suboamp P oggo u to Mouthaus on 3-6 April 1945 (R 16; P-Ex 9A) . 

The accus ed admitt ed in a s ocond Sta t ement that, whil e. he 

was as s igned to aubca mp Peggou b e tw ee n February and April 1945, 

he slapped inma tes and beat thom with a stick about 50 to 60 cen­

time t ers l ong and about the thioknos s of his finger; tha t b u p~ r­

ticipa t od in on inmate tr a nsport to M~ uthausen Concentration 

Camp in April 1945; a nd tha t about 20 t o 25 inma t e s died on this 

transport. He stated tha t ho be lieved they died of exposure be -

cou ac h o thought that the railroad ca r doors wer e open during the 

thr ee day trip (R 16; P-Ex 10), 

One witness, who wa s ~ t subcamp Poggau fr om kugust 1944 to 

March 1945, t estifiod that t he occus od e scorted inma t es from the 

comp to the construction site , g ho r e ho guordod thoo, and 
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sup ervis ed th eir work. On four or fiv G occasions the accus ed 

bea t inmate s with his hand a nd a stick a pproximate ly three -fourths 

of a meter long a nd someuhat thicker than a fing er (R JO) • ~ se c ­

ond witness t estified tha t at subcamp Alfena the accused mistroat­

od inma t es in the armament factory two or thrco time s. On one oooa• 

eioD be beat an inmate with a stick s~v o rely enough to r equire tho 

wounds to be bandage d (R 85, 86). 

~!id~n~~-fgr_QQf£ll~£1 Th& acc us ed did not testify nor was 

any testimony introduced in his b ehalf. 

~y£Xi~i~D~~-~f-~!ig~n~~ s The fi ndings of guilty ar e war­

rant ed by the evid ence . Th o sentence i s no t e xc essive . 

~~liiJ~n§: No Pet itions f or Review nor P e tition s for Cla m­

oncy wore filed . 

B~~2mm~ng~i~n: That th e findings a nd sentence b e approved . 

5. t:rili_M!BQEt: 

Nationality a Gorman 

hgea 45 

Civilian Status1 Unknown 

Party Status: Member of Naz i Perty since 1931 

Military Sta tusa SS First Lieutenunt 

Plea : NG 

Findings a G 

S&ntencea Doath by hanging 

~Y!~~P~~-l.Qr_~~~~~~Yli~n: Tho acc us ed tostifi ~d thut ho 

o ~tR r ~ 1 the Waff en SS in 19JJ. Ho was transforrod to subcamp 

Guson of Mouthauaen Conc entra tion Ca mp in 1940 as un SS maste r 

s ergeant, and was promot ed to an SS lieut enant in 1941. Ho was 

th on transferr ed to Mauthau son Concontration Camp in February 1942. 

I n July 1942 he wns tra nsferrod to subcamp Brottotoin a nd s ervod 

as camp l eader until De cemb er 1942, when ho r e turne d to Mautha u­

s en Concentration Camp . He was s ont t o s ubca mp Linz during the 

first days of Janua ry 1943 a~ camp l e a d er. H~ r emained at sub­

oamp Linz until J or 4 May 1944, whe n ho was transferr ed to 
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subca mp Le ibnitz, also known by the name ~fl en s , as comp l eader 

and remQined there until July or hUgus t 1944 . He was the n tr an s ­

ferred to subcamp Peggau and served as camp leader until 3 or 4 

hpril 1945. Subcamp Peggau was evacuated on 3 or 4 ~pril 1945 to 

Mauthausen Concentration Camp (R 192-195 , 225). 

In his Statement, 29 November 1946 , the accused stated tha t 

on 10 October 1940 he was assigned to the SS Totenkopfsturmbann 

Guaen, a nd attached to a guard company as a trainer . Lat er he was 

platoon leader . He was deputy company commander for a period 

prior to March 1942. In Mautha usen Concentration Camp from Mnrch 

until July 1942, his duty was to mainta in order in the brot hel. 

He was ca mp command er of subcamp Brottstoin from July to Decembe r 

1942 and of aubcamp Linz I from Decomber 1942 to May 1944 . In Ma y 

1944 he ~as transferred to subcomp Lc ibnitz and r emained ther o 

until the last of August 1944. He then bocame command er of aub ­

camp P eggau, which position he held until following ita ovacuation. 

Th e inmat es were marched to Bruck ~nd from thero they wer e shipp ed 

in op en box cars to Mauthausen Conc entra tion Camp. He order ed 

e ight or nine inma tes, who wer e not ablo to stand the march, into 

a tunnel. He shot four of them a nd Technical Sergeant Nocky shot 

the r e ma inder . Two to six inma te s died on this eva cuation mnrch 

and transport to Mauthausen Concentr a tion Camp (R 138 ; P-Ex 2ll). 

In a second Statement, 24 June 1947, the accused stated tha t 

he was ass igned to subcamp Gus en from October 1940 to February or 

Mn rch 1942 . He th en went to Mauthausen Concentration Camp wher e 

he ran:u ~ ~n 1 ·1 :-. ~.1 1. Jul y or August 1942 . Hi s duty in Ms uthaus en 

Conc entration Camp wae to mainta in ordor in the brothel. He wont 

from there to subc~~p Brettste in a nd r emained there until Docemb or 

1943, wh en he returned t o Mauthauson Conoentrotion Camp . He ha d 

no duties ther e during tho Christmas holidays a nd a ft or tho holi ­

days he was transfcrrod t o subcamp Li nz as camp comwa nd er . He r e ­

mained in t ha t ass ignment until Moy 1944 . Ho was camp commander 
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of aubcamp Loibnitz.A-om May to August 1944 and of aubcamp Pegga u 

from August 1944 to March 1945. He held the rank of second liou­

tonant at Poggau. The accused admitted tha t ho and Technical S0r­

geant Nocky oach shot four inma t es who noro too woak to go on tho 

evacuation march and that six or soven died on th6 transport, 

probably from exposure (R 13S; P~Ex 22). 

Ono witness testified that on tho second day aft er Easter 

(1945) subcomp Peggau was to be evacuated betwee n 2200 and 2230 

hours. The accused ascertainod from the camp physician that thGro 

were 15 inmates in the dispensary unable to go on tho transport. 

The accused orde red the oanp physician to givo t hese inma t cu on 

injection, which the camp physician r efus od to do. Those sick 

inma tes, who were of various nationaliti e s including French, Ita l­

ian a nd Russian, were then led ·to a t unnel and shot. The witness , 

a n orderly of the accused, did not see the shooting, but saw these 

sick .inmates being led to a tunnol and l ater saw their bodies re­

moved on stretchers to a place whore thoy were buried directly i n 

front of the camp, on the orders of the accused (R 31 , 32). 

A second witness t e stified that at about 2200 hours on the 

evening before the evacuation of subcanp Peggau about eight in­

mates who were not capable of making the march wer e chased into 

a tunnel by Technical Sergeant Nocky. The accus ed was aeon at 

the tunnels . Ho gave an ordor to tho block eldes t of block 1 to 

dig hol e s to bury the bodios, which holes w~re to be dug in back 

~ f his bee hives. The block oldest r efusod to carry out this 

ord er. The next morning the witness heard the accused order a 

few inmates out of the evacuation march formation and tell th em 

t o get t oo ls and go behind th e bee hives. He saw them dig the 

holes tharo, throw a few bodies in the holos and then cov er th o ~ 
' 
up with ea rth and r e turn t o their placos in tho for ma tion. The 

accus ed dir e cted the comp e ldest t o communicate tho ord er to the 

for ma tion that a nybody who was not capable of continuing the march 
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would b o shot t o death (R 143-145). This witness plaoed the date 

of t ho evacuation and shooting in February 1945 (R 146, 14?). 

In his Stot emont, Wolf stdted that tho a ocusod declar ed on 

2 April 1945· that suboamp Peggau would be evacuatod bf marching 

on f cot t o Mauthausen Concentration Camp; that those inmate s whc 

wero not ablo to maroh would bo takon by train to Mnuthousen Con­

centration Camp; and that thos e who lagged behind on the march 

would be shot . Approximatoly JO inmates rep ortod thoy wore unfit 

f or the march. The same night those inma tos were sh ot in a tunnel 

by the accused and Technical Serg eant Nccky. Wolf did n ot see 

the shooting but he saw o detail burying tho d ead the next morning . 

Shots wer e hea rd repeatedly on tho way from subcamp Peggau to 

Bruck on Mur where the inma tes wero loaded in wagons . The trans­

port lasted fr om Monday until Saturday night of the same week •ith 

no f ood the entire time . Wolf estimated that more than 100 inma t e s 

died on the transp ort, the victims being Poles, Rus s ians and in­

matos of various othe r nationalitios. In this Sta t ement, the wit­

ness des cribed various beatings and killings in 1944 and 1945 by 

the accused or at his dir ection. The killings included such method s 

as shootings, bea tings, executions, etc. (R 129; P-Ex 19A, p. 3) . 

h f ourth witness t estified that at no on on 4 April 1945, an 

ord er was givon on the roll call square to march off fr om subcamp 

Alfe ns t o subcamp Ebenaee . The accused, in the pre s enc e of tho 

antire comp per sonnel, ord ered "Whoovor cannot go along e n the 

eva cua tion march will bo bumped off" (R 72, 73, 76). 

A fifth witness t e stified that in Oct ob er 1943, when s ome f ood 

s upplies fr om Mauthausen Conooutrntion Comp arrived in subcamp 

Linz I, an inmat e cobbler, Micha e l Capp, went over t o the automo ­

bil es a nd put s ome turnip s in his p ocket. The camp eldest so~ this 

and struck tl1e inmate and "kicked six hol e s in his head." The 

victim bc camo insa ne and coul d n ot work a ny mor o . ' wee k lat er 

the comp eldest wa s or der ed t o d o auay with th e victim. Ho made 
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him dr ess and start to work. The a ccused appeared ond shouted 

t o a guard, "Climb up into your t ower, so that they won't see you 

stand ing in tho chain of guards . The man has t o b o shot t o death". 

Th e guard shot the inma t e in his f eot anu thighs whereupon th e 

victim f ell down and screamed. The accus ed then fired tw o shots 

into tho victim with his pistol whil e he was still in a sitting 

position. The body was removed and r ema ined in the blook wit h tho 

witness t or tw o days, after which it was sent t o Mauthaus en Con­

centration Camp crematory (R 140 1 141). 

A sixth witness testified that in subcamp Alfens tw o inoates 

wer e involved with on SS man in f orming a plan t o escape, which 

woe made known t o the accus ed who wat thon the cscp leedor' of eub­

eaa~ ?eggau . Tb9 noouao d came to the r oll call and asked these t uo 

inmates to fall out . He then dreu his pistol one asked the chain 

of guards t o come in and had the electrica lly charg ed gates opened, 

and said, "Lot's see you disappe ar now . Ge t going" . These inmates 

s a i d, "Mr. Leader of the Protective Custody Camp, why should we 

go?" The accused asked them, 11ihut 1 s the matt er? Are y ou scared 

t o go? Are y ou afr aid of the bulle ts?" Thoy f ell on their knees 

and begged for their lives . The accus ed called them cowards. ~hey 

wore pushed again and again but the y d id not go . Then be said, 

"You ore going t o be dead t omorr ow anyhow". The i nma tes were forced 

t o stand all night by the electric f ence . They wore s ent t o work 

the ne xt morning and wer e shot t o dea th by the SS men, ab out JOO 

m~ t er s from the armament f a ctory. Their bcd i es wer e brought in 

on stretchers. The witness saw the bodi e s in the wash r oom and 

obs erved throe shots in ono body and f our in tho other (R 88, 89) . 

A seventh witness testified tha t th e incident t es tified t o by 

the sixth u itness happ oned in August or September 1944• He corrob­

orated most of the t e stimony by the sixth witness , but t est ified 

that a ft er r oll call the noxt morning tho accused said t o them a t 

th e work detail, "I don ' t va nt t o s ee you a ny mor o . I dcn 1t wa nt 
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to -•e you alive anymore!" The witness further testified that the 

two inmates realized that it was certain they would be killed. Con­

sequently, both of them voluntarily went across the chain of 

guards. The witness saw the guards shoot thes e two inmates. He 

knew on e by the name of Scherer from Saarland. The other was a 

Hungarian Gypsy named Weiss (R 153-155). 

An eighth witness testified that on two or more ocoasiono the 

accused participated in executions at Ma uthausen Concentration 

Camp. He commanded the detail and these exe cutions may have bee n 

in 1942 or 1943 (R 63, 67, 69). However, on examina tion by the 

Court the witness fixed the date as 1945 and fixed the number exe ­

cut ed as approximately 40, be ing mostly Russia n nationals (R 70). 

One of the foregoing witne sses stated in a Statement a nd te s ­

tified that on 12 November 1944 in suboamp Peggau a Yugoslav inmate , 

who had escaped, was returned to the camp by the police. Tbe ac-

cused interrogated him a nd t ook o pair of pliers and pinched bis 

private parts and beat him with a bull's "pizzle". The witne ss re­

mained standing near-by whil e the accused pinched the victim sever­

al time s a nd heard his outcries of pain. The victim told the wit­

n e ss late r that be bad beon severely beaten (R 39, l~; P-Ex 81). 

In September 1944 10 Russian inmates were caught trying to oscop o 

fro m the construction site at subcamp Poggau. They wero interroga-

t ed by the accused, hanged by thoir hands which were tied behind 

their backs, and beaten. They were returned to the block and give n 

a n e• c~p e point, and in the course or timo nine were shot whil o 

escaping (R 38, l5J P-Ex SA). 

A ninth witness testified that there was a detail at Mauthau-

sen Concentration Camp ca lled the punishment company in which th o 

inmates were required to carry stones from the quarry to the camp. 

In June or July 1942 the witn ess saw an inmot o nea r the political 

department, who could not carry h is stone a ny furth er. The accus ed 

took th ~ inma te into tho bath in th o camp a nd had him given 25 

blows. He thon gove him o cold show er and struck the inma t e acro s s 
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the fac e and chest with an oxtail whip throo or four time s a nd s ent 

him back to his deta il. Inmates were beaton fr equently by the a o-

cused a t Mauthausen Concentra tion Camp . He us ed an oxtail whip or 

a stick ( R 148-151). A tenth uitnoss t e stified that in subca mp 

Gusen in tha first three months of 1943 the accused fir ed t wo shots 

from his pistol, killing an inmate who was banging on an el ec­

trically ~harged fence b ogging to be remov ed (R 172, 173). An 

e leventh witness testified as to bea tings by the a ccused (R 110 , 

111). 

A twelfth witness t es tified that at Mauthausen Conc entration 

Camp in April 1945 aft e r an air r aid on subcamp Linz, five captured 

America n flyers were brought into camp by the accused a nd SS Cap­

tain Bachmei er. These flyor s wore placed against the wall to tho 

right of the guard house a t tho gate. One of the m was severely 

wounded and lying on the ground. After some interroga tion and 

abus e s by others, the accused forced them to f ace the wall and they 

wer e beaton by the block leader by bouncing their heads against the 

wall until their faces wero bleeding v ory much. The accusod stop­

ped one flyer who tried to assist the woundod one and struck him in 

the back of the neak and kicked him i n the buttocks. They wer e 

given no medical trea tment a nd were forced to sta nd against the wall 

for four hours. The wounded flyer di ed in the bunker the witness 

learned later (R 158-160). A thirteenth witness , Jos ef Hildner, 

t e stified that in the summer of 1943 the accused was i n charge of 

an execution in Mouthausen Conc entration Comp in which 48 "por t i-

eans", two Czech intellectuals ond two women woro tho victims. The 

execution took place next to tho wall for med by the small e nd of 

the painter's barracks. The ex ecution, including the prese nce of 

the accus ed, was observ ed by the witness from tho painter's bar-

racks at a distance of fro m fivo t o six meters~ hn order was read, 

which was in substance, "On ord er of Re ichal ead er Himler, the 

following persons aro sontoncod to b o shot a s of today". The 
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witnoee gnv o other details, inoluding names of individuals proeunt, 

who rood the order, eto. (R 166-171). 

Thiem stated in his Statement that tho accused was acting 

prison compound leader of Mauthauson Oonoontration Camp in 1942 

and that he snw the accused hang an inmate called Leape, . by his 

hands, which were tied behind his back, in the orderly room to 

seoure a confo11ion ooncorning an attempted osoape. When this 

method failed, the inmate's legs were tied up baokwards so the 

victim ua s hanging like a susponsion bridge. Then the nccusod, 

weighing over 200 pounds, pulled down on Lampe and broke his spine . 

He was then thrown into the street, showered with water and kicked 

in th~ groin by the accused. The victim died a pa inful dea th in 

the street ( R 129; P-Ex 20A). 

IIig§D~§-iRI.J2itiD~~· The accused toatified tha t hie concen­

tra tion camp duties ended with the evacuation, about 4 or 5 lpril 

1945. Ho knew nothing of an incident oonoerning Am erican fly ers 

in euboamp P eggau, but after becomin ~ a prisonor he heard something 

about a flyer incident in Mauthaus en Concentra tion Camp (R 195). 

He was under orders to holp as far os possible accused RICKEN in 

hi s dutios os camp commander of subcamp Alfons. T~o l ast time ho 

was in subcamp Alfons woe a~ the ond of January or in February 

1945. It was approximately 100 kilomot ors from subcamp Leibnitz 

to subcomp Alfens and he had no official oar (R 196). 

He received by telophone from SS Lieutenant Colonel Zier e is 

the following order• "I should march on toot from subcaop Peggau 

t o Mauthausen", wher eupon ho reported tha t he had about 15 or 20 

inmntos who could not march and Ziereis ordorod him to shoot thoso 

inmates who wore not ablo to maroh. Ho then asked Ziereis how ho 

should do that, to which Zierois ropliod, "If you ar e too dumb for 

it, then tak~ yourself sooe non-commissioned offic ers". Ho furthor 

said, "If one inmate f a lls into tho h~ nds of tho Rus sians I'll havo 

you court martialed" (R 197, 198). The nocusod then reported to 
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Ziereie that he hod no vehicles with which to transport the sick 

inma tes and again Zierois told him to shoo t thoso inma tes uho 

were t oo sick to march, and the aooueod finally answered Zioreis 

by saying "Yes" {R 200). He then ordered the block leodare and 

camp eldest to distribute a ll good clothing and shoes among the 

inmates; directed that each inmate take two blankets ; and directed 

that sufficient rations for the march be distributed, The accused 

ordered that all sick inmates who could march must do so. Some 

of these were loaded in a horse drawn vehicle. He then tried to 

secure additional vehicles fro m the Gau leader in Gras, but was 

not successful, ofter which he decided to shoot e ight of the sick 

Russian inmates (R 201, 202). He and Nocky took tho eight oick 

inmates into the tunnel in the evening between eight and nine 

o 1clock and shot them (R 202). In his ne ed and anger he imagined 

that, if he failed to carry out the order of Ziereis, he would 

have been put before a fi eld court and bonged. Zioreis had the 

worst possible reputation and the accused was afraid of him. The 

accused testified that i n October 1940 at subcamp Gusen the entire 

batta lion ~as r estricted because the SS men wrote on the barracks 

during the night, "Long Live Adolf Hitler1" ond,"Zioreis ie a pig" 

(R 203). The accused decided and believed that Zioreis hod a 

hidden hate tor him because he had always avoided Zioreis and had 

neve r considered him an educated man, which Zior e is probably knew 

(R 203). The accused learned Ziereie' attitude toward hio from 

actual experience in tha t he was more often punished by Ziereia 

than any other oftioer in Mauthausen Concentration Camp (R 204). 

Ziereie reprimanded him for taking n walk with the inmates aft er 

work hours and again he reprimanded the accused tor sending an 

inmate , ~ scorted by only one guard, to buy vegetabl es, and fina lly 

he confined tho accused becauso on 1 May 1944, he did not forc e 

the inmates to work. Some time l a ter Zioreis forced the wife ot 

the accused, ~ho was then e ight months pregnant, to leavo the camp 

without being accompanied by the accused (R 204). 
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Cenoerningthe assertions made by Wolf in his sta t ewent (R 129; 
~h . ; 

P-Ex 19A), wherein he stated that the accused left the inmates 

on the march without rations for a week, the accused testified 

thot rations wer e distributod and tha t other food, excopt potu ­

toes , wos taken along by those in charge of the kitchen (R 205). 

The time estimat ed for the ride from Bruck to Mauthaus en Concon -, 

tration Camp was possibly ono day and night, which was inter­

rupte d by air attacks and requir ed three days (R ~05). Und er 

thos e circumstances food could not oo o~tainod, but sufficient 

rations wer e ot band and bread, meat and butter wor e distributed 

thr ee or four tioos. One time warm food uas s erved (205). Only 

six or s ev&n inmates and not ~pproximately 100 died on the trip 

(R 206). The inmates hod been in the dispensary a nd probably 

died from exhaustion (R 206). 

~he accused was not in subcamp Gusen in 1943 ond could not 

hove shot the inmate hanging on th o electric f e nc e as Folger hnd 

testifiod. Tho last time ha was in subcamp Gusan was on 2 or 3 

Fobruary 1942 and he did not return thore in 1943 for n11 y purpose 

(R 206). 

Tho accused further testified that he nev er participatoc i n 

ony exocutions , oxcept the ono at P eggau. Howev er, he admitt ed 

tha t hu was a sp ectator at two oth~rs (R 206, 207). He w~s not in 

Mnuthousen in the year of 1943 and could not, as Hildnur t e sti­

fi ed, hov e participated in the exocution of the 48 "pa rtisan s" 

(R 207, 208). 

As to the incident of the 10 Russian inmates of Dec omber 

1944 cov~red by Dodt in his t estimony ond Sta t eme nt (R 15; P­

Ex SA), the accused testified thnt ho r oceived the roport that 

six or uight Rus sian inmates planned to try to e»cop o fro m th e 

construction wor king s ite. They wer e linod up on t he roll ca ll 

squa r e for int errogation to a scer tain who instigated the plan . 

Beatings took pla ce during tho in~orrogo t ion. they wer e not tor -

t ur ed . They wore beaten but not hc nged by their hand s (R 209, 210 ). 
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The accused denied that he ever pinched the private parts of 

inmates with pliers (R 210). 

The accused was not present when the Russian inmnte wa s 

shot in subcamp Linz I os testified to by the witness, Bogdans ki. 

The accused received o report tha t an inmate was shot a t th e con-

struction site on the Danube while trying to escape. This inm~ te 

was brought into camp and sent to Mauthausen Concentration Comp. 

It is not true that the accused gave on order for the shoot i ng 

(R 211). 

The accused knew nothing about the participation of an 5S 

man in a· plan for two inmates to e sca pe but received o r eport 

fr~n inmates that these two inmates had intended to escape. They 

were made to report to the accused and he shouted at them and 

asked them why they wonted to escape . They did not reply. The 

accused warned them thoy would be hangod, i f caught during on os­

oape. To illustrate his point ho told thom that, if they passed 

the entrance, the guards would shbot. He had the ga t e op ened and 

told thom to try it, if thoy doubt ed tha t he wa s correct. These 

inmates possibly received some slaps but no mistr ea tment, He nov or 

gavo an order to shoot these inma tes and loft subcan1p Le ibnitz 

the noxt day (R 212) • 

Th e accused testified that he did not know anyone by t ho 

name of Theim or Lamp e . Ho denied breaking th o back of Lampe or 

anyone else (R 213). 

The accused furthe r testifiod that he did not know a form er 

inmato of Yauthausen Concentration Camp or aubcomp Peggnu, who 

was a Pelish J ew namod David Wolf and whos e Statement (P-Ex 19A) 

wa s admittod in evidence (R 129) and in which a numb ~r of all ego -

tions ar o made against the accused. The accused nev er gavo orders 

for any inmates to b e shot , e xo opt tho four montioned previously. 

The guard or security measur es a t Poggau ~~re not his a ff a ir, but 

that of a police offi c~by tho namo of Webor. Lieutenant ~eber 

got his orders from and was und er th o comma nd of Mauthauson 
15 



Concentration Camp (R 213-216). The accused denied the accusa­

tions of Wolf (R 213 -219). 

Accus ed RICKEN testifie~ that this accused was not in sub­

eamp Leibnitz when it was evacuated from there to subcamp Eben eee. 

He left subcamp Leibnitz in August 1944 and never appeared there 

atter January or February 1945, but he still had official r espon­

sibility for the camp (R 239). 

Concerning the evidence by the sixth prosecut ion witness as 

t o s hooting an inmate at the guard chain at Linz I, a former 

gua rd at subcamp Linz I testified that he was on guord at watch ­

tow er No . 1 at the work site of a cinder detail on 13 Oc~ ober 

1943 when a Russian inmate , an elderly man, ran through the guard 

chain at the right of his tower . The witness called out "Halt" 

three times and the inmate did not stop. He then shot, which 

caused the man to fall to the ground but he was not dead. After 

two minutes the detail leader and a capo a rrived and the witne s s 

r eported the shooting to the .detail l eader . The de ta 11 l eador 

and the capo went to where the inma te was lying . When they r ea ched 

the place, the inmate suddenly got up and attempt ed to run away. 

The capo caught him and struck him several time s on the mouth. 

The inmate fell unconscious. Thenthe detail l eader ond the capo 

called to th e guard, "Shoot guard shoot!u, which the witness did. 

The detail leader a lso tired some shots in the head of tho vic­

tim . Accused MIROFF was not at th o scene of this incident (h 269 , 

270). A second witness, who was an acquaintance of the preceding 

witn e ss, heard of an incident involving the shooting of a n es­

caping Russian inmate, but ac cording to the r eport he r eceived 

only the witness was involved in the shooting (R 272, 273) . 

§yfl1~i~n~I-~l-1Yi~~n~~· Tho Court was warrant ed fro m t h e 

e vidence concerning the extent and nature of his participation, 

in it s fi ndings of gu ilty . 

It is cl ear that thu accuse d did not a ct unwillingly or under 

imm~diot e compulsion t o any degr eo . It is a l so clea r n s to hie 
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assortions as to superior ordors that he failed to mee t the bur­

don of proof required by pertinent authorities discussed in Se c­

t ion V, post. The sentence is not excessive, 

f~!ill~n~: No Petitions for Review were filod. Petitions 

tor Clomency were filed by the acouaod'e wife, Gortrud Miroff, 

8 Docember 1947 and 30 Docember 1947; and Dr. Hans Fritz von 

Zwehl, 24 December 1947. 

fi~~~mm~ngAii~ns That the findings and sontence be approved. 

6.. fAYl-lilQ~E!i 

Notionolitys 

Age a 

Civilian Statues 

Party Statues 

Military Statues 

Pleas 

Findingss 

Sentences 

German 

55 

School teach er 

Nazi Party since 1932 

SS Mast er Sergeant 

NG 

G 

Life imprisonment 

Eyjg~D~~-I~I-fI~~§~Yii~n: The accused t ostif ied thnt he 

entered the SS in November 1935 and that in August 1939 be was 

assigned to Mauthausen Concentration Camp. He was there until 8 

February 1944. On that dote he was tranaferr&d to the headqua r ­

ters staff subcamp Leibnitz where he remained until th e end of 

tho war . In the main camp he was a bookkeeper in the guurd regi ­

ment. Later he was a bookkeepor in the camp headquarters. In 

the eprdng ·of 1940 he was assigned t o the otfice of the Bureau of 

Joentif ication and took complete charge thereof in th o summer of 

1943 (R 228 , 229). 

In one of his Statements , the acoused gave similar personal 

datA, stating that he was deputy oamp commander at subcamp Le ib­

nitz to the end of the ~ar (R 55; P-Ex 13A). Likewise , in n 

s econd Statement, tho accused sot forth similnr personal data, 

stat ing that at subcamp Loibnitz he was doputy camp commander 

und er accused SS Lieutenant MIROFF. Ocoosionally, by r eason of 
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r epor ts ho ordered minor beatings by tho camp oldest as punish­

mGnts to keep order in the comp, On two occasions he caused 

inmat es to be banged by their hands for 20 minutes to secure con­

f ess ions (R 59; P-Ex 16A). The accusod made substantially tho 

s omo statements in o third Sta tement (R 59; P-Ex 17) . 

A witness t e stified that he witnessod an execution in bnok 

of block Mo. 20; that in 1942 he saw the accused march to tha t 

place , the cu s tomary placo for executions, in 1942, with an oxo­

cution detail of eight SS men ospecially equipped with stool hol­

me ta and machine pistols; tha t they marched by tho witness' place 

of work, which was barracks 21, to the e xecution place in t he 

r ear of block Ho. 20, approximately 30 to 40 met ers ; but thot ho 

did not s ee th ~ accus ed shoot , Tho witness was not a sked whethe r 

h o heard the shots or saw bodio s carried away (R 63-71), 

4 second witness te s tified thnt ho had aeo n approximntely 

50 instances of mistreatment of inmotes at the direction of tho 

accused. The inmates we r o s ont t o th e block of tho block e ldest 

where the y received from tivo to 25 strokes with n stick. S0•e 

were hang ed by their hands which we re tied beHind their backs . 

The witness saw some of the victims later in th e dispensary. Somo 

could not use their hand s which were sw ollen, The arms of some 

uore dis jointed (R 84, 85). 

A third witness saw the accused going to t~e p~aco wher e 

executions t ook place at Mauthausen Concentr ation Comp on 3~ to . 

50 occasions. He wore the usual steel helmet, Shots were hun rd 

(R 107). In 1943 the witness saw the accused in his office beat­

ing a Polish inm9te into unc onsciousness with an oxtail whip . 

He ols o e ew the accused severely bea t a n inmate named Zwigli (R 

105, 106). One of the functi ons of tho accused in the Recogni ­

t i on Service wa s to f a l sify photographs of unnatura l deaths t o in­

dicat e a suicide or an at t enpt t o escape (R 102-104) . After the 

~me r ioa n s libaated tho camp, a •big pile " of nega tives wa s f ound , 

many of ~hich r opre sented suppos ed suicides in tho bunker. 
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Ho~ eve r, the negatives disclosed that each suicide occurred in 

the s ame spot, using tho same noose . The nooso was on tho sRme 

part of the neck of each victim and in each instance the noos e 

wa s hung on the same heating apparatus in the bunker (R 103). 

A f ourth witness t estified tha t on four or fivo occasicns 

ho saw the a ccused beat inmates with a s tick ovor a meter l ong 

and about two centimeters thick so severely that many bled (R 114, 

115). 

A fifth witness, Hildner, t estified that in tho summer of 

1943 the accusod participated as one of eight members of a n exe­

cut±i.cn detail in the shooting cf 48 "p artisans". The execution 

t ook place on the wall f ormed by tho small end of the painter's 

barracks. The execution was obsorved by tho witnoss fr om a dis­

t ance of five or six meters. The witness hoard an or der was r ead 

which wa s in substance, "On ord er of Reichsleader Himl er, t he f ol­

l ow ing persons are sentenced to be shot ae of tQda7" (R 166-171). 

In his Statesent, a sixth witness stated that in July l944 

the accused f orced him t o stand t or one day and night r. t the gato 

at subcamp "Leianitz" without fo od . The accused beat him in the 

f oce with a whip during an interrogation. He then gave the wit­

noes 50 strokes with a stiok in tho ord erly r oom a nd t hen made 

him stand tw o more days at th~ gate without f ood (R 58; P-Ex 15~ ). 

A seventh witness testified thnt t he order t o eva cuate sub ­

cowp AlfGns to subco mp Ebonsee was givon on 4 April 1945 by ac ­

cused MIROFF, who stated in the presenc e of t he entire camp p er­

sonnel, "Whoever cannot go along on the evacuation march wil l 

bo bump ed off". The transport was in c ommand of this accused 

who wa s deputy commandor of the subcamp. The witnos s learned 

fr om tho burying detail thot fiv e or six inmates wero killed dur­

ing tho march (R 72, 73, 75-77). 

An eighth witness tostified th~ t he wss on t he eva cua ticn 

morch fr om subcamp Alfens t o aubcamp Ebensee as a member cf tho 

burial detail; that tho accused was in command c f t hv transp or t; 
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that at the outset it contained approximately 580 inmates and at 

arrival it contained approximately 490; that he ea~ 12 ueak inmates 

uer e s hot; that from his observations in connection with his de­

tail, altogether 41 inmates were shotJ and that he personally 

heard r eports of these incidents made to the accused at roll call 

eooh morning (R 82-84, 96-99). 

EYi~ill~i-~I-~ti1na1• The aoousad testified that he t ook · 

photographs of unnatural death scenes and wa s not required to con­

duct any interrogation or make any reports as to the deaths. Suoh 

matters were the function of the Political Department (R 230, 232, 

235). The accused never knowingly made falsification of photo­

graphs (h 232, 235). He oould not enter the bunker, which was in 

charge of the SS men on duty there (R 232). The accused was called 

in the bunker when suicides happened, only at most three or tour 

times (n 2.3.3). 

The accused further testif i od that he nev er took part in any 
. 

execution. He never carried a rifle and only had a pistol at Mau-

thausen {R 236). Konatz, a superior of the accused in the Recog­

nition Section and who participated in an execution, was of about 

the some size and build, had similar faoia l fe a tures, and hair of 

similar oolor as the accused (R 2.36). 

The accused nae not ordered by anyone to shoot the weak in-

mates, uho were not able to proceed on or during the evacuation 

march from subcamp Leibnitz to aubcamp Ebensee (I, 240). However , 

hG admitted the existence of a rumor of such policy (R 261) . The 

accused took the sick inmates along (R 240). The accused sought . 

the advice of peopl~ as he passed through the country ahead of the 

marching column and made decisions for himself (R 240 1 241). Roll 

oalls ~ er e conducted in the presenca of the accused by a sergeant 

t wice daily, including rep orts on all missing or dead. However, no 

detail ed reports on causes of deat h wer e made. The accused knew 

fro m reports by the doctor that certain inmates were very sick and 

the deaths did not exceed thos e he a nticipated {R 241, 242). He 

l oft alfens with about 500 inmates and arrived at subcamp Ebensee 
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uith a little less than 450, with 47 escaping at one time and three 

at another. The accused did no~ hear that any of the inmates were 

shot until interrogated at Dachau in 1946 (R 243}. 

The accused, as deputy commander of suboamp Leibnitz, ordered 

inmates beaten with a piece of rubber hose when they violated the 

rules of the camp, when they had stolen aomething from the factory, 

or mishandled valuable material. Usually only five to 10 strokes 

wer e administered (R 59, 245-247, 262; P-Exs 16A, 17}. 

A witness, a former clerk in the political section in Mauthau­

sen Concentration Camp, testified that aft er an inmate had been shot 

to dea th, the detail leaders made a report to the protective cus­

tody camp, which relayed the information to the legal section. The 

latt er t e lephoned the information to the Recognition Service. If 

o committee were sent to the soene, the committee was comprised of 

the protective custody oamp leader, the doctor, and the leader of 

the political section. The procedure and actions of such commit­

tees uere the concern of the protective custody oamp. The witness 

knew nothing of falsified photographs in such oases (R 282). 

On the first four days of the inmate evacuation march from 

suboamp Alfens to suboamp Ebensee , eight wagons were secured and 

those inmates who were unable to walk were put in these vehicles. 

No inmates died after this time. The accused would give the march­

ing order and then he would proceed on his motor cycle, sometimes 

r e turning once or twice during the day to give orders to his dep­

uty. Sufficient rations were taken along from the camp for the en­

tire three weeks and it was never necessary to secure food en route. 

The accused's duties kept him avay from the marching column for the 

greater part of each day, which made it impossible for him to con­

cern himself with all the details and this witness did not hear the 

ac cused give an order to shoot any inmate (R 78-81). 

~Ylii~i~n~I-~!-E~ig~ll~i• The findings of guilty are warranted 

by the evidence. The s entence is not excessive. 

f~~i~i~nas No Petitions f0r Review nor Petitions for Clem­

ency wer e filed. 
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Hi~Rmmin~.c:Ui.S2D• That the findings and sentence be approved. 

Nationalitya Yugoslavian 

hgea 22 

Civilian Statusa Unknown 

~orty Status& Unknown 

Military Statusa SS Private First Class 

Plea a NG 

Findings G 

Sentence 2t years, commencing 
3 May 1945 

~!i~iD~i-l2I-lI~~j~Y!ign: In his Statement, the accused 

sta t ed that he was a member of the Waft en SS from 14 September 

1942 to 3 May 1945; tha t he attained the rank of private first 

class; that he served in subcamp Gusen from 15 February 1943 to 

10 hugust 1943 as a guard; thnt he was assigned to subcamp Wiener ­

Neudorf from 10 August 1943 to 2 February 1944 in the "FOW" plants; 

that he served in suboamp Leibnitz from 2 February 1944 to 25 

September 1944 in the limestone plant at Alfens; and that he was 

in the 13th SS Mo~ntain Infantry Division, "Hondha", os a riflo­

mnn in Croatia , Hungary, from 25 September 1944 to 14 Deoember 

1944. Ho was an escort guard on on inmate transport from subcomp 

Wi ener-Neudort to Mauthausen Concentration Comp with 200 inma t e s 
and -

in February 1944,/on an inmate march from subcamp Gus e n to sub-

c~mp Le ibnitz with 200 to JOO inmate s in Fobruary 1944 (R 18; 

P·Ex llt). 

Ono witne ss, who was in subcamp Wienor -Neudorf from August 

1943 to 'pril 1945, testified that ho knew the aocused as an SS 

guord in suboamp iiener-Neudorf. The a oousod often left his g•srd 

post to hit inmates with hie hands and he also boat them with his 

ha nds when his doily shift ~as over. On one occasion the accus ed 

rubbed his hands ove r o dirty ma chine and smoored the oil and dirt 

off hi s fingers on the fao o of some inmates. Similar incidents 
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~er e aeen by the witness fivo or six times, in which wer e involved 

20 to 30 inm~tes of various nationalities. During tho night 

shifts the accused hit inmates with his fists and the butt of 

his rifle if they f a iled to march prop orly. These incidents wer e 

observed five to 10 time s (R 21, 22-24). 

Exhibit P-22 of the Parent Mauthauson Concontration Camp 

case , a dea th book containing & rocord of unnatural doaths at 

Mauthausen Concentration Camp and its suboamps, was introducod 

and extracts of lines 196, 266, 541 and 544 were cortified and 

admitt ed in evidence (R 19, 20). These exhibits imply tha t as a 

guard, lCerl Stummvoll killod a Rue sian civilian, Ua ail 'l'a tarenkn , 

on 23 June 1943 (R 20; P-Ex 12A)J that Karl Stuatohl killed a 

French Private, Arthur Dubnnd, on 9 September 1943 at Wienor­

Noudorf (R 20 J P -Ex 12B); tho t Karl Stumtohl kill ed a Yugoslavian 

Privat e, Antonij e Petrovic, on 22 July 1944 in Loibnitz (R 20; 

P -Ex 12C); and thot Karl Stumfohl kill ad an "I.ZR" Gypsy, Johann 

Gus sa ck, on 25 July 1945 in Leibnitz (R 20; P-Ex 12D). 

~!i~~n~~-L2l-~il&Djil The acous od did not tostify nor was 

any t e stimony introducod in his behalf. 

~~tl1~i.wl.QZ..~_l!j~~n~~· Tho findings of guilty are warrant­

ed by the evidence. Tho sontenoe is not excessive. 

f~~ili~nA• No Petitions for Review nor Potitione for Cl em­

ency r:o re filed. 

R~~RmmiDd~j~D• That tho findings and sentence be appr oved. 

8 • L~uii.11A1i.1_I.YJ!lll! 

This accused wee served but not tried (R 1). 

v. QYi§IlQB~..Ql_~,!• 

~Y~i~di~l1'2n• A question not r a is ed during the course of the 

trial moritB discussion, viz., did the Court have jurisdiction of 

ao cusod STUYFOL, who is a llegedly a national of Yugos l avia, a mem­

ber of the United Nations? 

War criminals, brigands , and pirate s are the common enem i e s 

of oll mankind a nd a ll nations hav e an equa l interost in their 
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apprehension and punishment for thei~ violations of international 

la". Concerning this question, it is stated in "Yi heaton 's Inter­

national Law", Volume I, Sixth Edition, at page 269, that every 

independent state has tho judicial powor to punish "piracy and 

other offenses against the common law of nations, by whomsoever 

and wh~resoever committed." Nationals of other United Nations 

wore sent enc ed, which sentcnoos hove beon approved and carried 

into execution, in the Parent Case , and in the Belsen Concentra­

tion Camp case, British hrmy of the Rhine, December 1945. Appar­

ently, a ll concerned with the rovi ewaand approvals in those case s 

considered the universality of jurisdiction over war crimes to 

be so well recognised that discussion was not necessary. Military 

Government Courts have jurisdiction over tho nationals of any coun-
-

try, who are in ·~ho United States Zone of Occupation, except as 

to certain cla sses of American and other nationals, e.g. , military 

personnel, which are not pertinent to the jurisdictional questi~n 

here involved. Concerning jurisdiction over war crimes, no limi• 
• 

tation is imposed. (Seo Section 5-300.2 and 5-300.3, Titl9 5, 

"Lega l ond Penal Administration" of "Military Government Rogulo­

tione", published by Office of Military Government for Germany 

(U&), 27 March 1947.) Concerning tho general question of univer­

sality of jurisdiotion over war crimes see "Universality of Juris­

diction Over War Crimos", by Cowlos, California Law Review, Volume 

lXXIII, June 1945, No. 2, pp. 177-218. 

It is clear that the Court had jurisdiction of the persons 

of t~ o accused and of the subject matter. 

§HPQ[j~r_.Ql:~~ia Accused MIROFF sought to justify hie acts 

of shooting those inmotoe who were too sick and weak to go on tho 

inmate evacuation march from Peggau to Mauthaueon by offering 

evidence to show that he was acting in compliance with "superior 

orders." Compliance with superior ordore docs not constitute a 

def ense to the charge of having committed a wor crime (Trial of 
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Henri Uirz, 40th Congress, 2nd Seas., House of Representatives, Ex. 

Doo . No. 23, page 812; VoL II, Sixth Edition, Oppenheim, "Inter­

national Law," paragraph 253, page 453; Llandovory Ca stle Case, 

16 American Journal of Internationa l Law, page 708; Unit ed Sta tes 

v. Thomas, opinion DJAW C, December 1945J United States v. Klein, 

et al ., (Hadamar Murder Fa ctory Case), opinion DJi .. WC, February 

1946; and French Republic ~. Wagner, et al., Court of ~ppeals, 

(France), July 1946). This rule is followed in ~nglo-American 

jurisprudence (Mitchell v. Harmony, lJ How. 115, and "Manual for 

Courts-Martial, u.s. ilrmy," 1928, paragraph 148). 

Compliance with superior orders may, under certain circum­

stances, be considered in mitigation of punishment, However , an 

accused who seeks relief on such grounds assumes tho burden of 

establis hing (a) that he r e ce ived an order from a superior in fact, 

directing that he commit the wrongful act, (b) that he did not 

know or, as a roasonably prudent poraon, would not have known that 

the act which he woe directed to perform was illoga l or contrary 

to universally accepted standards of human conduct, and (c) tha t 

h& act ed, at least to some extent, under i mmediat e compulsion. 

Having satisfactorily established those elements, the amount to 

' which his sentence should be mitigated depends upon the ohnraotcr 

and extent of the immodia te compulsion under which ha acted. (S ee 
.. 

Lond on Agre ement of 8 hUgust 1945, Conc erning Prosecut ion and Pun-

ishment of Major iar Criminals of the Eur opean Axis; FM 27-10, ~ o r 

Pe ~artment, U.S. Army, "Rules of Land warfare," paragraph 345 .l, 

Chauge No. l, 15 November 1944; Opp enhe im, "Internationa l Law" , 

supra, a nd the Llandovery Oastle Case cited thereinJ "Manual f or 

Court o-Martiol," supraJ "Report to the President of the United 

St a t e s ," 7 June 1945, by Mr. Justice Jackson, U.S. Chief Counsel 

f or the Prosecution of hxis Crimina lity; Extra ot fr om Goebbels' 

"The Air Terror of Our Enemies," f ound in f ootnot e , pag e 5J, "Mil­

itar y Occupation and the Rul es of t he LQw ," by Ernst Fraenkel; 
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Unit ed States v. Burf, et al., opinion DJ/.1lC, September 1945; 

United St 3t ea v. Thomae, supra; and Unitod States v. Beck, et a l., 

opinion DJA~C , December 1946.) 

M~li~D-l2.J2iRmi1~1 The Court's den i a l of the de t ens e ' s 

motion f or findings of not guilty as t o accused DLOUHY, GLISSMi.NN 

and ST UMFOL after the pros ecution rested, was prep er (R 175 , 1177) • 

It i s net error for a war crime s tribunal to dony n moti on for 

findings cf not guilty ma de aft er tho proaocution complet e s it s 

oaao if it believes thoro is sufficient evidence t o support the 

charge and that the accused should bo r equired t o a nsw er it (Sec ­

tion 5-327.2, Titlo 5, "Legal and Penal £dministraticn," of "Mil­

ita r y Government Rogulationa, " supra, and Socticn 501, page 409, 

"Ma nual f or Trial of War Crimos and Relatod Cos es," 15 July 1946). 

h s imilar practice is f ollowed in courts-martial (P aragraph 71 d, 

"Monua l f or Courts-Martial, US Army," 1928). In the instant ca se 

the Court did not abuse its disoretion in denying the motion. 

a~~li~Ail.QD-~'-fatQD~-~~.wtl The Court was r equired t o toke 

cognizan ce of the decision rvndered in the P ~rent Ca se, in~luding 

the f indinga of the Court thorein, that tho moss a trocity opera­

tion ~as criminal in nature and that the participants ther ein, 

acting in pursuance of a common de sign, subjected inma t es t o kill­

ings, bea tings, t ortures, etc ., and was warranted in in~erring 

thc t t hos e shewn t c have participated knew of tho criminal nature 

ther eof (Letter, Headquartors, United States Forces, Eur opean 

1r hc ~t.e ":' , fil e AG 000.5 JAG .. AGO, subj ect s "Trial of ifar Crimes 

Cases," 14 October 1946, and the Pa r ent Caso). Th e convicted ao .. 

cused wer e s hvwn t o have participa t ed in tba mass atrocity, and 

the Court was warranted by the evidence adduced, either in the 

Pa r ont Case or in this subsequont proceedings, in concluding as 

t c them that they ne t only participated t o a substantic l degree , 

but tha t the natur e and ext ant of thoir participa tion were such 

as t o war r ant the s entence s i mposod . 
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• , 
Exa mina tion of the entire r ecord fails to disclose ony error 

pr omis sion which resulted in injustice to the accused . 

l. It is r ecommended that t he findings and the sentencos 

b ~ a pprov ed. 

2 . Lega l For n•B Nos. 13 and 16 to accomplish this result are 

a tt a ched h er eto, should it meet with approva l • 

• 

L. F. BENSON 
Ma jor, FA 

Post Trial Br anch 

Having examined the r ecord of tria l, I con cur , t h is ---------- da y 

of -----------~--~------1948. 

C. W. PHIFER 
Lieutenont Colonel, USAF 

Acting Deputy J udge Advocat e 
· for War Crimes 
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